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To Jon Otto and Sam Griffiths, my friends in all weathers,
and two thirds of the estimable Tuna Boys.
Long may they prosper.




HEMINGWAY
at WAR




INTRODUCTION


Readers interested in Ernest Hemingway know that he has been the subject of a number of comprehensive biographies and memoirs. There is hardly a need for another. Nor is this book intended to be one, although some of his personal history is revisited to provide context to his adventures as a war correspondent in World War II. Hemingway had a talent for being at the center of important events. Those events—and some of the people connected with them—are a large part of this story. He was with the Allied landings on D-Day. He flew with the RAF on at least one bombing mission. He flew with them during an attack of V-1 flying bombs. He operated with the French Resistance and the US Office of Strategic Services (OSS) as the Allies advanced to Paris. And he was present and indeed active during the horrendous carnage of the battle for the Hürtgenwald in Germany’s Siegfried Line. As such he provides a useful lens to examine these events and also some of the people, both the troops who fought and the civilian journalists who covered the fighting. Inevitably and understandably, his exposure to people and events affected him deeply—and affected his journalism, and later his fiction. This book attempts therefore to place him in the context of this history and in so doing expand understanding of those events and their effect on him, personally and professionally.




CHAPTER ONE


“There is no pain compared to that of loving a woman who makes her body accessible to one and yet who is incapable of delivering her true self.”


—Lawrence Durrell


Lawrence Durrell was plainly a little overwrought when he wrote those lines. Probably, he really didn’t mean it. There are quite obviously many worse pains that humans suffer. Those who experienced the grotesque cruelties and disasters of the Second World War knew that—and some dwindling few still know that—all too well.


But there is at least a whiff or two of truth there, as the relationship between Ernest Hemingway and Martha Gellhorn illustrates. Their relationship influenced their subsequent careers and reputations, so it is more significant than the simple story of one writer’s love for another, however painful and unsatisfying that became. It became a story of marital conflict in the context of global conflict between nation-states that were fighting for survival—and races that were enduring genocide. And it is also the story of the men and women who went to the war to report it.


In the spring of 1944 Ernest Hemingway went to Europe on assignment from Collier’s magazine. As a war correspondent, he was obviously a little late in arriving. Why did he finally decide to leave his comfortable home in Cuba? He disliked the bureaucracies involved in journalism, the military censorship, the competitive nature of journalists scrambling to meet deadlines and beat their rivals. Why should he enter the rat race? He was a writer of fiction, primarily, and defined himself that way. He considered himself an artist, and rightly so; these others were mostly just reporters. Some were good writers of the news, some less so. But news was different from fiction. Different from art. It was the difference between photography and painting. Now and then the two might overlap, but not often. What novelist with his reputation would enjoy simple reporting—a narration of carefully massaged facts mixed with homey references to individual soldiers? Besides, he wanted to live his professional life as a lone wolf, not as a cog in an information engine—especially one that was highly regulated. Working for the weekly Collier’s, he would not be in the business of scrambling for up-to-the-minute reports—a cross that many of the lesser-known journalists would carry. He was there to write features and opinion columns, not straight news stories. He would later say he only did enough to avoid being sent home. He knew he would be under the thumb of military censorship—something that he understood was necessary but still by definition irksome to a creative writer. He had been a war correspondent before, but the circumstances were different in the earlier conflicts he covered. In those days, journalism was a means to an end, both financially and artistically—a way of honing his craft. And that had worked. But things were different now. His novel, For Whom the Bell Tolls, had been a massive success. And he was in his midforties, a time when he might have been forgiven for wanting to relax and enjoy his success. What’s more, by definition, going to the war would distract him from his real job, creative writing. It was not just a matter of time away but also of possible contamination of the quality of his work. As he said in his 1958 interview with the Paris Review: “… journalism, after a point has been reached, can be a daily self-destruction for a creative writer.”1


Given all these objections, why did he go?


While the answer to that question does not end with Martha Gellhorn, it certainly starts with her.
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It would have been easy to fall in love with Martha Gellhorn. Lots of men did. It would have been less easy to be in love with her. Lots of men found that out. One of them was Hemingway, her first husband, though not her first lover. Martha was Hemingway’s third wife and the only one of his four wives who had anything like a distinguished career. A successful journalist and writer, she was also the only one of the four who was glamorous, beautiful, and fiercely ambitious. And unlike the other three she was never willing to make marriage her first priority; she had another raison d’être. Or perhaps more than one.


In the early stages of her career Martha Gellhorn believed that journalism could actually have an impact on the culture, could create the kind of social and political change she believed was necessary. “I believed that if everyone knew the truth, justice would be done.”2 Later she came to doubt, but that would come after years of work during which she became more and more embittered and cynical about the western nations’ institutions and especially about America’s politics, culture, and economics. The Spanish Civil War had a lot to do with that. But when she met Hemingway for the first time, she was still pretty much a true believer. She had worked for the Roosevelt administration writing articles on the condition of rural workers in the South. The misery that she encountered and chronicled fanned her already well-stoked indignation over the country’s economic and social structures, and their corresponding inequalities. Describing a Depression-era mill town she wrote: “It is probable—and to be hoped—that one day the owners of this place will get shot and lynched.”3


Martha’s brand of journalism, especially when politics were involved, was frankly and unashamedly tendentious. If the facts did not fit her version of what to her was the correct narrative—i.e., the truth as she perceived it—she had no qualms about ignoring or adjusting them. In one early and notorious example, she wrote about a lynching in the South as though she had been there, even though she heard the story secondhand from a dubious source. (It’s probably unnecessary to say that the victim in this story was a rural black man, not a factory owner.) Afterward she said, “The point is, that article was a story. I am getting a little mixed up around now and apparently I am a very realistic writer (or liar) [sic] because everyone assumed I had been an eye-witness to a lynching whereas I just made it up.”4 In her view, exposing the evils of white supremacy and the lynching of blacks in the South justified mixing fact with a generous dollop of fiction. No doubt there were others then, and now, who would agree. Nor did she bother to correct the record when the story was reprinted later. She never really knew whether the lynching even happened. But of course there were other lynchings that really did happen, so to Martha in this case, fiction versus fact was a distinction without a difference.


She met Hemingway, perhaps accidentally, in Key West in December 1936. She, her mother, and her brother walked into Sloppy Joe’s Bar, and Martha, at least, made an instant impression on the rather unkempt writer sitting at the bar. Martha was wearing a black dress that flattered her slim figure, and she was then, and always would be, well aware of the effect she could produce. Hemingway later said, admiringly, that Martha’s legs “began at her shoulders.”5 Martha’s long blond hair fell casually around her face and neck in a way that was dramatically different from the dark, close-cropped coif of Hemingway’s current wife, Pauline—dramatically different and for that reason, perhaps, particularly alluring. Martha was twenty-eight, at her physical peak. She was also a published author—of a novel and a book of stories based on her work with the Roosevelt administration. The prestigious Saturday Review of Literature magazine had featured her on their cover. So while she admired Hemingway’s writing, she was not a starstruck fan. She could legitimately consider herself professionally in the game. Possibly, Hemingway found that appealing too. He was always attracted to people who were good at things, especially the things that mattered to him.


It was never clear whether Martha went to Sloppy Joe’s looking to meet Hemingway. It was his known hangout, and probably not quite the sort of place a well-brought-up woman would think of taking her mother, despite the fact that her mother, Edna Gellhorn, was no shrinking violet and had long been active in feminist politics in St. Louis. Regardless of Martha’s intentions, she did arouse Hemingway’s easily aroused attention, and the two became friendly that very afternoon.*


Things moved rather rapidly as Martha extended her stay in Key West and ingratiated herself with Pauline in much the same way that Pauline had become friendly with Hemingway’s first wife, Hadley. No fool, Pauline’s antennae began to quiver, but she held her peace for the time being. Two weeks after their first meeting, Hemingway followed Martha to Miami, where they had dinner together. He then went to New York for a number of business meetings, while she visited her mother in St. Louis. While in New York, Hemingway made arrangements to cover the civil war in Spain, as a correspondent for NANA—the North American Newspaper Alliance. He would later submit articles for the magazines Ken and Esquire, although he greatly preferred fiction to journalism. He cared deeply about Spain and the disaster that was unfolding there. In a matter of weeks he was ensconced in Madrid’s Hotel Florida. He was there to tell Spain’s story—the story of a complicated, desperate war that his side would end up losing. The tragic violence and the body counts of the innocent on both sides would become part of the novel he would eventually write. It was a story that, for him, was best expressed in fiction. A novel allowed disparate points of view and could illustrate the fact that, when a fascist politician is thrown over a cliff by a mob of enraged and vengeful peasants, the politician still suffers the horror of the event and seconds later lands on the rocks below, his only life extinguished, and painfully. Then, too, the scene of El Sordo, isolated with his little band on a mountaintop, watching their doom arrive in the form of Nationalist airplanes, was a useful symbol of mechanized war versus vulnerable but valiant humans—a literary Guernica. This scene, indeed the entire novel, contained as much, or maybe more, truth about the war, and by extension the human condition, as any newspaper report. Besides, given the partisan reporting on both sides of the war, it’s fair to say that the novel was a better way—perhaps the only way—to express the complexity of the truth. The disinterested good guys were in short supply on all sides in this dreadful war. There were only a few the likes of George Orwell. Or Hemingway, even though some of Hemingway’s reports have been criticized as propaganda. Hemingway’s more nuanced view of the hideous war would emerge in For Whom the Bell Tolls. Both writers, arguably two of the finest of the century, favored the Republican side, but neither turned a blind eye to the government’s flaws, missteps, and atrocities. At least, not always. As for the objectivity of the press Orwell said: “No event is ever correctly reported in a newspaper, but in Spain, for the first time, I saw newspaper reports which did not bear any relation to the facts, not even the relationship which is implied in an ordinary lie.”6


Martha arrived in Madrid soon after Hemingway. Relentless and courageous as always, she survived a rugged trip across the Pyrenees from France, through Barcelona, Valencia, and into Madrid, which at the time was being assaulted from three sides by Francisco Franco’s rebel army. Most likely it was then that Hemingway and Martha began their love affair in earnest. And though the affair was part of the reason she came there, her primary reason was to cover the war for Collier’s. In other words, Hemingway or not, Martha would undoubtedly have found a way to come to Spain anyway. Things did not start off on the best foot, for when Martha initially met Hemingway at the Gran Via Hotel where Ernest was having dinner, he said: “I knew you’d get here, daughter, because I fixed it so you could.”7 That raised her hackles a bit. His habit of addressing young women as “daughter” was annoying, and more than a little odd, but more importantly he had done nothing to help her get to Spain. She undoubtedly, and rightly, felt that her exertions and the risks she had taken were being slighted. It was early in their relationship, though; things that would eventually become significant affronts could still be overlooked. He was still the bright star; she was still a rising star. She joined him in the Hotel Florida. When the hotel was shelled by Nationalist rebels, she and he were seen emerging from the same room and heading for the shelter. Their affair was no secret to the other western journalists in Madrid.


During his four trips to Spain Hemingway not only wrote about the war and saw it firsthand from the front lines, but also helped produce a propaganda film. Ultimately called The Spanish Earth the film would be shown in the United States, at the White House and in Hollywood, particularly, in order to raise funds for the beleaguered Republic. Martha would help with some of the postproduction, inserting sound effects into a film that had no ambient sound, because of the danger and difficulty of transporting bulky recording equipment to the combat zones. Orson Welles was originally signed to do the voice-over narration, but no one seemed to care for his reading. Hemingway’s criticism of Welles’s performance was graphically obscene.† In the end, Hemingway capably recorded the voice-over of the script he had written for the film. The film’s director was Joris Ivens, a Dutch filmmaker and enthusiastic communist propagandist. Hemingway did not, and never would, share Ivens’s politics, but the two men did share a devotion to the Republican cause and a willingness to expose themselves to front-line combat in order to make a useful film. (John Dos Passos was also involved in the planning and production of the film.) Hemingway cared about Spain and the Spanish people, regardless of politics, and there was little choice but to align himself with the largely leftist movements that were fighting the Nationalists, who were supported by Fascist Germany and Italy. On the surface this was an either/or war; beneath the surface it was far more complicated—as Hemingway would depict in his subsequent novel.


Hemingway’s articles for NANA had a level of authenticity that would not always be present in his later work in World War II. Some of them did, anyway. While acknowledging that some of his thirty total dispatches were “poorly done, trivial or incoherent … Some were masterpieces of characterization, of analysis, of description, or just plain factual reporting. A half dozen of these dispatches can stand up to the best reporting of the Spanish Civil War.”8 But not everyone agrees. Critic and biographer Scott Donaldson writes: “Phillip Knightley was still more critical in The First Casualty, his authoritative study of war correspondence in the twentieth century. Hemingway’s reporting was ‘abysmally bad,’ Knightley maintained, citing in particular, ‘his total failure to report the Communist persecution, imprisonment, and summary execution of “untrustworthy elements” on the Republican side.’ Knightley believed Hemingway failed his obligations as a reporter by salting away such material for use in For Whom the Bell Tolls. “For a novelist,” he commented, “this was understandable. For a war correspondent, it was unforgivable.”9 Still others regarded his work more charitably, saying in essence that it was uneven—sometimes quite good, other times more like propaganda.


This kind of criticism would reappear in reaction to Hemingway’s World War II stories for Collier’s—but for different and nonpolitical reasons.


It is sometimes difficult to assess the quality of war reporting, since it was invariably subject to censorship. Evading censorship that was too restrictive was a constant battle for writers. In one case, Frederick Voigt, from the Manchester Guardian, wanted to write about mass reprisals and executions in Madrid, and knowing that the story would not pass the Republic’s government censors, he asked Martha, who was planning a trip to Paris, to take a “carbon” of the story. Hemingway heard about the proposal from Martha, suspected something unusual, and opened the sealed envelope. He discovered an original text that had not been cleared by the censors. He and Martha were furious, since the stunt put Martha in danger of being arrested as a spy. This was no idle risk—both sides were untroubled by rules of law, or even decency, in their use of the firing squad. Besides, Hemingway and other journalists maintained that there had been no such mass reprisals. Or at least there hadn’t been any recently. To report such atrocities, even if true, would be damaging to the Republic’s cause. That, in turn, would damage their ability to raise funds among sympathetic western donors. Worse, it would provide some cover for American and European governments that wanted to maintain a position of neutrality, which meant they could avoid providing money and arms to the struggling Republic. Nor would it be necessary for France, Britain, and the United States to choose sides in a war that was widely understood to be between fascism and communism—although the truth was, as usual and as mentioned, far more complicated. In a battle between the twin evils of the twentieth century, no western government saw a reasonable alternative to neutrality, even assuming domestic politics did not matter, which is always an absurd assumption.


The tendency of western journalists to downplay Republican atrocities and failures fits nicely with Martha’s attitude toward journalism; she was outspoken in her impatience with what she called “that objectivity shit.”10 Unblushing advocacy was not only acceptable, it was a virtue—not just for columnists who were paid to express an opinion, but also for reporters who were paid to report the facts, in theory dispassionately. She was not alone, for the Spanish Civil War was one in which much of the western press—especially those who were covering the war from Madrid—sympathized with the beleaguered Republican government that was fighting a losing battle against Franco’s Nationalist rebels. The rebels, supported by Nazi Germany and Fascist Italy, were better equipped and generally better led than the ragtag Republican army that was hamstrung by a toxic mixture of differing—and squabbling—political ideologies. The Republicans, who were supported erratically by the Soviet Union, were a sympathetic underdog, and there was a clear-cut drama between good and evil, or at least so it seemed to Martha and her colleagues. What’s more, the political demographics appealed to left-leaning journalists, for the Republic was supported by a motley collection of workers, unionists, anarchists, socialists, and communists of both Trotskyite and Stalinist persuasions. The Nationalist rebels on the other hand were supported by much of the professional army, the Catholic Church, and its militant lay supporters (the “Carlists”), a fascist political movement known as the “Falange,” royalists, and the large land and factory owners. It was the classic confrontation between the oppressed and the oppressors, or at least it could easily be framed that way. And it was. Consequently, sympathetic western journalists were reluctant to report failures and atrocities committed by “their” people in the larger interests of the cause. Martha and her colleagues were not reporters so much as chroniclers of a gradually unfolding tragedy, and they felt themselves part of the fight, not mere dispassionate observers. They felt the exhilarating sensation of comradeship and shared danger (danger that was very real, to witness the shelling of Madrid in general and the Hotel Florida in particular), all in the name of a cause they considered noble. And it was a cause in which the moral nuances and inconsistencies could safely be ignored in the enthusiasm of righteous belief. Psychologically, they weren’t very different from the thousands of European and American volunteers who flocked to the Republic’s standard in the International Brigades. (The American Abraham Lincoln Brigade is perhaps the most famous of these. But there were many others, including a German brigade made up, obviously, of anti-Nazis.) As Martha’s and Hemingway’s friend and fellow journalist, Herbert Matthews said “good journalists should write with their hearts as well as their minds.” Matthews also wrote: “I know as surely as I know anything in this world that nothing so wonderful will ever happen to me again as those two and a half years I spent in Spain … It gave meaning to life.”11 Matthews was there on behalf of the New York Times. While Matthews et al. were finding meaning in their lives and writing with their hearts, a quarter million civilian Spaniards on both sides of the conflict were finding their graves—through terroristic reprisals and mass political assassinations.‡ Martha agreed with the conventional journalistic wisdom: “Spain was where our adult hope was (the sum total of the remaining hope of youth with a reasoning and logical hope of adults) … Spain was a place where you could hope, and Spain was also like a vaccination which could save the rest of mankind from some fearful suffering. But no one important cared.”12 Not everyone saw the conflict as a morality play. In fact, dispassionate observers saw that the two sides both embodied dangerous evils. George Orwell, and Hemingway ultimately, both arrived at the same conclusion. It was, as is often the case in politics, a matter of choosing the lesser of two evils. But only up to a point. The “political commissar” of the International Brigades was the murderous and marginally insane French communist, André Marty, a man who saw spies and traitors wherever he looked and who admitted after the war to having ordered five hundred of the brigaders shot for various flimsy reasons. As Antony Beevor writes: “Marty preferred to shoot anyone on suspicion, rather than waste time with what he called ‘petit bourgeois indecision.’”13 Hemingway portrayed him for the madman he was in For Whom the Bell Tolls. It was part of his clear-eyed vision of this evil war—on both sides—and a clear distancing from the cheerleaders on the journalistic left who chose to turn a blind eye to the Republic’s atrocities in general and the communist evil in particular.


The western journalists in Spain, regardless of their lack of objectivity, were right about one thing—the war there was a rehearsal for a wider conflict in which fascism would be the sinister and powerful enemy. If that enemy could be stopped in Spain, the journalists believed, there might be hope for the world. But of course it was not stopped in Spain, could not have been, and observers like Martha—for all their partisanship—understood that their cause was lost and that even worse nightmares were about to begin. The needless bombing of civilians in Guernica (by German planes flown by German pilots), the indiscriminate shelling of Madrid, the continuing mass executions and rapes committed by the Nationalist rebels, many of them professional Moorish soldiers drawn from the North African colonies—all revealed that an unthinking beast had been released and was “slouching toward Bethlehem,” already born. Nourished by victory, the beast would grow. The rebel generals were not simply interested in winning; they wanted a political cleansing, a “limpieza.” That meant eradication of all democratic/liberal/socialist/communist/anarchist activity or sentiment. Cleansing would not come through some reeducation or indoctrination scheme—or even political argument—but rather from the barrel of a gun. People in captured villages and cities were slaughtered. In one representative incident, pregnant women who happened to be living in a Republican district were taken out of the hospital and killed. The tide of rape and murder moved toward Madrid. The Republic and its supporters would be buried together in a mass grave. And aiding and abetting the destruction of the Republic were Adolf Hitler and his swaggering henchman, Benito Mussolini—though it is interesting to wonder if the far-from-stellar performance of Italian troops raised in Hitler’s mind a soupçon of doubt about his ideological and military ally. It should have.


Western governments including the United States maintained a neutral stance. Lurid reports of anticlerical Republican attacks on the Church—of nuns being raped and priests murdered, churches burned down with parishioners inside—incensed the powerful American Catholic Church. There was widespread Republican feeling that the Catholic Church was involved in the oppression of the peasantry and was therefore a legitimate target. And the fact that the Republic was being supported by the atheistic Soviets—with weapons and some advisors in the field—deepened the suspicion of the Republican cause in the United States. Hemingway, to his credit, would address the poisonous politics of both sides in For Whom the Bell Tolls—a novel that would be attacked in both the fascist and communist press (including American communist newspaper the Daily Worker), whose criticisms justified Hemingway’s contempt for politics in fiction and of writers whose novels were little more than political screeds. He had a clear understanding that fiction can be truth, but that political agendas and orthodoxy rarely, if ever, are. He had been to Spain and seen the beast; he had no real interest in political orthodoxies and zealotry that, he understood, were part of the problem, and not anything like the solution. Nor was he ever a joiner in the sense that many were; he did not derive self-fulfillment and a warm glow from the abstract idea of comradeship. His “comrades” were individuals whom he chose, and no others. And it had nothing to do with their politics. Nor did the rhetoric of politics appeal to him. Famously, he wrote that the words used by politicians to inspire the masses paled to insignificance compared to the realities of war. “Abstract words such as glory, honor, courage or hallow were obscene.” If a Nationalist artillery shell landed in the street outside the Florida Hotel and killed a grandmother walking with her grandson, there was no Hell too deep for those who fired it. And no Hell too deep for those who retaliated in kind. The grandmother may have been a Republican or an anarchist or a communist, but that did not matter, because now she and her grandson were nothing. You see these things firsthand, and you lose your belief in speeches, pamphlets, and manifestos. And in the very idea of an orthodoxy. He went along with the Republic, because he believed in antifascism. Beyond that, when it came to politics, not much. Dead bodies, who got that way because they believed different secular religions, were still and eternally dead, often by the accident of simply being in the wrong place.


It was in Spain that Martha lost her belief, too—her belief in the efficacy of journalism. “And of course I do not believe in journalism. I think it changes nothing.”14 Perhaps, but her loss of belief did not prevent her from writing nonfiction and fiction for the rest of her long life. While she came to doubt the wider impact of her work, she never doubted the necessity of doing it—for her own emotional and mental stability. Work was always the most important thing to her, an end in itself. As her biographer Caroline Moorehead wrote: “‘Travail—opium unique.’ The welcome stupor of hard work was a message she never forgot, however happy or preoccupied. Nothing in her later life would ever equal its unique gift of conferring forgetfulness.”15 Nor did her acceptance of journalism’s impotence dampen the sense of outrage over social injustice that was a constant element of her worldview. She was on the left all her life, a disciple of Eleanor Roosevelt (about whom Martha said, “She gave off light”16) and a supporter of the New Deal’s intentions, however objectively inept or counterproductive the policies. As she wrote to her journalistic colleague and post-Hemingway lover, Bill Walton, “It does not matter in the least that communism does not work, nor bring economic justice and happiness; hope in the unknown is always powerful if the known is dreadful.”17 This level of political cynicism is stunning or sophomoric, or both. (Apparently, she was unaware of the Aesop fable of King Stork, whose subjects desired order, but not the terror it brought.) And by choice she lived outside the United States much of her life, because she hated the values and culture of Middle America, hated the Babbitts, their way of life, their beliefs, and their political representatives: “I have never feared Communism in the US but have always feared Fascism; it’s a real American trait.”18 Apparently to Martha, the members of the VFW, the Rotary clubs, and the like were only lacking a charismatic leader with a funny moustache to incite them to don black shirts and march by torchlight. She wrote this in 1964, not quite twenty years after the United States and its allies had spent hundreds of thousands of lives and billions of dollars to destroy the fascism that she seemed to think was lurking within every American town hall meeting and in the very corridors of the Pentagon and Congress. She was hardly the only one of her time and leftist political views to lump all who disagreed with her under the rubric “fascist.” But her use of the word recalls Orwell’s percipient observation that “thought can corrupt language, but language can also corrupt thought.”19 How Martha and those like her could conflate the perhaps bland and narrow cultural conservatism of Middle America with the murderous totalitarian Nazi Germany, or even Mussolini’s inept Italy, beggars belief. But Martha was good at hating; it was a facet of her unquenchable indignation, her primary emotion. As Orwell also pointed out, however, such inaccurate and flabby usage of the word fascist rendered it ultimately meaningless—an all-purpose term to denote something vaguely undesirable.§ It is like the word racist today—so scattered around as to be almost useless as a conveyor of meaning; it has descended to the realm of political or personal insult.


Martha’s enduring political sensitivities were in fairly sharp contrast to Hemingway’s. As mentioned, he was always a reluctant and essentially uninterested participant in the politics, especially of the left—the politics that dominated contemporary writers and political activists. Yes, he gave a nervous speech to the Writers Guild and said all the right things—some of which he actually may have believed. But he was not in any way sympathetic to the thirties’ zeitgeist. Irving Stone once asked Hemingway why he never wrote about American culture. Hemingway replied that there was very little going on. Stone responded with a recital of Roosevelt’s social and political programs, implying that these were worthy of a novel. “Not my kind of material,” said Ernest.20 Whereas Martha regarded the Roosevelts—and especially Eleanor—as candidates for secular canonization, Ernest was unimpressed and thought the president was “sexless and even somewhat womanly in appearance, like a great woman Secretary of Labor.”21 More importantly and perceptively, Martha wrote in 1940: “He [Hemingway] protects himself from anything and everything, takes no part in the world, cares about nothing except what he is writing.”22 For an artist, that would seem to be a good, perhaps even the only, code. To paraphrase what Hemingway said on political writing, if you read War and Peace today you would have to skip over the big political thought-pieces that Tolstoy thought were the finest parts of the book.23 And in his 1958 Paris Review interview he said: “All you can be sure about in a political-minded writer is that if his work should last, you will have to skip the politics when you read it.”24 The justly forgotten political novels of the thirties are more than enough proof of Hemingway’s perception. The Grapes of Wrath is perhaps the only surviving representative, and it is a novel that a college student could read and admire but, retuning to it some years later, probably not get through it. Interestingly, even Martha dismissed the book when it was published.


On the other hand, Hemingway was deeply committed to the Spanish Republic’s side of the war—not to its bewildering array of squabbling parties, but to its antifascist role. So Martha’s criticism of his lack of political awareness was not quite fair, if it is even relevant today. But he was never interested in the leftward movements in the United States, nor was he interested in writing a “proletarian novel.” The closest he came was with To Have and Have Not, which is generally regarded as less successful than his three major works. And yet the hero is no passive victim of the system; he is someone who asserts himself and, like the torero in “The Undefeated,” dies but does not suffer defeat. The contrasted “haves” are pathetic sybarites, more or less cartoons. Who, then, are the real Haves and Have Nots? Who then has what a person must have? Money can be easy to come by, especially and obviously when it’s inherited; integrity is not. Hemingway based his main character on his friend who owned Sloppy Joe’s and who fished with Hemingway, and the writer clearly thinks that the accomplished, self-sufficient fisherman (and dodgy character) was worth more than the vapid yachtsmen who appeared to have it all—but who didn’t have what mattered. There is very little, if anything, about thirties politics in that. That is a try for the universal. And while some might say that Harry Morgan’s last words (“a man alone ain’t got no bloody fucking chance”) is a call for comradeship and political solidarity, it’s more likely that Hemingway is saying that the man alone, the individualist, is increasingly at the mercy of forces beyond his control, including political orthodoxies. Hemingway could see those forces gathering strength. It was 1937.
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While Martha may have loved Hemingway at the beginning of their relationship—and she said she did—the idea of being married to him, or anyone else for that matter, was distasteful to her. “I do not enjoy shared daily life, and think marriage the original anti-aphrodisiac. I like excitement from men, all the kinds there are; and you can’t get that Sunday through the next Monday.”25 And there was something else—despite saying that she enjoyed all kinds of excitement from men, she did not particularly enjoy sex. Even in the early days of her affair with Hemingway, when excitement and passion should have been at their height, she said she went to bed with him “as little as [I] could manage,” and that her “whole memory of sex with Ernest [was] the invention of excuses and, failing that, the hope that it would soon be over.”26 While some unappreciative critics of Hemingway might gleefully say that her reactions were a commentary on his lack of skill in the bedroom—or worse—Martha makes clear elsewhere that few, if any, of the many men in her life, before or after Hemingway, were able to arouse her physically. As she said about her first lover, Bertrand de Jouvenel: “Physically, for me, it was nothing, ever.”27 And further: “I know there are two people in me. But the least strong, the least demanding is the one that attaches itself to another human being. And the part of me that all my life I have shaped and sculpted and trained is the part that can bear no attachment, which has a ruling need of eloignement [detachment, remoteness], which is really untamed, undomesticated, unhuman … Since I was a child people have wanted to possess me. No one has.”28


Despite these reservations, she much preferred the company of men. She liked being a part of their world. For allowing her in and accepting her both personally and professionally, she felt it was only fair to reward them with herself, if they were interested, and they always were: “So some men gave me that, company, laughter, movement, the sense that life was an open road and you could run very fast on it, and then they wanted me. And then, I think, I paid my debts. I returned quid pro quo. I had had my pleasure, now they had a right to theirs. It was also never any good.”29


So it seems that Martha Gellhorn was a woman who maintained a certain emotional detachment in her personal life but who also wanted to engage the world of action, to be a part of great events, to write about them, to do the work she had committed herself to, even when, or especially when, those events were tragic and heartbreaking. She loved being with exciting men who were also at the center of things, whether they were writers or soldiers or artists. And in return for acceptance and amusement she went to bed with them; it was nothing really to her anyway, because it was “never any good.” Physical intimacy was not especially important to her, and so giving herself was a small enough exchange for what did matter to her—access to exciting events and people, access that would lead to interesting work. And yet she also had a corresponding need for distance, so her life became a series of episodes in which exciting engagement in events alternated with periods of isolation and privacy, periods in which her emotional and physical resources could regain their strength. “I want a life with people that is almost explosive in its excitement, fierce and hard and laughing, and loud and gay as all hell let loose, and the rest of the time I want to be alone and do my work and my thinking by myself and let them kindly not come to call.”30 It was the perfect mind-set for a war correspondent. Work almost always involved lengthy trips to faraway and turbulent places and events. (She had to see events in order to write about them; she always said she could not rely on imagination—a statement that conflicts with her lynching story.)31 These trips were then followed by isolation and privacy during which she could think and write about what she had experienced. It was a formula for happiness for Martha, but it was hardly a workable formula for a successful marriage—especially not with someone like Hemingway, who wanted a wife at home, in bed, and a woman who, at the very least, was able to give the impression of being happy to be there. And happy with the results.


But despite the complexities of her personality, her detachment, and her preference for an episodic structure to her life, there is one thing to remember about Martha Gellhorn—when it came to journalism and especially reporting in World War II, she was really good—far better than Hemingway during this period. Whether she knew it or not is a different question. So too whether he was really trying or just mailing it in.


Despite her misgivings, she agreed to marry Hemingway as soon as his divorce from Pauline could be arranged. Hemingway, too, must have had significant reservations, for in his 1938 play about the Spanish War, The Fifth Column, he described a thinly veiled version of Martha as “lazy and spoiled and rather stupid and enormously on the make … [a] bored Vassar bitch … [who has had] affairs, abortions, ambitions.” (Martha had attended Bryn Mawr, and she was hardly stupid. But the last three words were accurate.) In reviewing the play critic Malcolm Cowley described the Martha-like character as “a Junior Leaguer pitching woo on the fringes of the radical movement.”32 Why on earth Hemingway ever wanted to marry her, if he really felt that way, even a little bit, and why she ever agreed to marry him are two questions that seem unanswerable. Maybe he thought she was not only beautiful but also complicated, and, since she was occasionally withdrawn and unattainable, she was vastly more interesting than the previous women in his life—women who were apparently eager to conform to his specifications. Getting through to Martha, on the other hand, was a challenge. And it would be naïve to overlook her physical attractions, attractions that were very different from first wife Hadley’s matronly figure and the diminutive, slender, and delicate Pauline.33 When his friend Scott Fitzgerald heard about the proposed marriage, he said it was “odd to think of Hemingway married to ‘a really attractive woman,’ [and that] ‘I think the pattern will be somewhat different than with his Pygmalion-like creatures.’”34 In an odd reversal of then current mores, Hemingway wanted to marry, whereas Martha would have been content merely to carry on an affair. “Living in sin” involved fewer obligations: “… I can do very well without marriage. I would rather sin respectably, any day of the week. E thinks of course that marriage saves you a lot of trouble, and he is all for it…. I like it better clean. I think sin is very clean. There are no strings attached to it.”35 Hemingway, it would seem, carried with him a streak of middle-class conventionality, one that survived wars and bohemian expatriate life, whereas Martha was the true rebel. Her contempt of Middle American life extended to Middle American morality. Her unconventionality was aided by her utter lack of personal interest in sex per se: “If I practiced sex out of moral conviction, that was one thing, but to enjoy it, probably, (in my subconscious) seemed a defeat. Anyway, I didn’t, and envied those who did, realizing it made life so much easier.”36 It was easy to give something that didn’t mean anything to her, and it was even easier because middle-class American morality meant nothing to her, either.


As for Martha’s interest in Hemingway, in the early years of their relationship she was still somewhat impressed by Hemingway the artist, and the famous artist at that. And perhaps lurking in the back of her mind was the notion that being married to him would certainly open some doors for herself, professionally. Such thoughts are not incompatible with genuine affection—not necessarily, anyway. As it turned out, the publisher of her next book—a collection of short stories—would be Scribner’s, and her editor would be Maxwell Perkins—Hemingway’s publisher and editor.


During the buildup to the wider war, Collier’s sent Martha on assignment to France and England to report on the mood of the people there and their opinion on the likelihood of war. She also traveled to Czechoslovakia after the 1938 Munich Agreement to report on the German army marching into the Sudetenland. Back in Spain, she and Hemingway watched the ragged remnants of the Republican army trying to flee across the border to France (where they would be interned in wretched refugee camps and thousands would die). Later she would go to Finland to report on the war between the gallant but outnumbered Finns in the “Winter War” against the Soviet invaders.


Between assignments Martha and Hemingway lived in Cuba. Martha had found a dilapidated farmhouse on the outskirts of Havana, and they renovated what became their Finca Vigia (“Lookout Farm”—an accidental bit of irony). When Hemingway’s divorce from Pauline came through, Ernest and Martha married in a civil court in Cheyenne, Wyoming, in 1940. They were in the West as guests of the Sun Valley (Idaho) resort. But Cuba would be their home. She would travel with Hemingway to China to assess and report on the situation there—she for Collier’s, he for PM Magazine. She hated it, especially the smells; she was always fastidious about hygiene (unlike Hemingway who seemed to adapt to the appalling conditions without difficulty), but she made some more than intrepid trips with him to various locations in China, usually by harrowing airplane flights. The entire trip was partially in the service of the American government, which was trying to evaluate how China could survive against the Japanese invasion and, as importantly, how Chiang Kai-shek could survive against Mao and the communists. Martha’s friendship with the Roosevelts opened the opportunity not only to report on the military and political situation but also to provide a strategic assessment for the policy makers back home. Those who think of Hemingway as a military poseur should remember that he was sent to China in part to assess the strategic situation, and that the US government was interested in Hemingway’s opinion of the military and political situation, and debriefed him thoroughly when he and Martha returned.


It was a miserable trip; Martha came down with a skin disease caused by washing her hands in local water. After weeks of stench and poor food and real danger from disease, she was more than happy to return to Cuba. The contrast between Cuba and the stinking misery of China was too stark. In those early days she was happy there and happy to be back: “It is perhaps wrong to be so happy in this present world, but my God how I love this place and how happy I am.”37


It wouldn’t last.


_______________


* Hemingway’s susceptibility may well have been enhanced by his relationship with Pauline. Pauline had already had two children and was advised against having more. As a devout Catholic Pauline allowed no traditional birth control and reportedly limited Hemingway to the coitus interruptus method—a method he later said ruined their marriage. It should be said, however, that Hemingway generally tried to shift the blame for a failing marriage from his own wanderings to the wife of the moment. Pauline’s condition, therefore, ultimately became a convenient rationalization.


† He said in effect that whenever Welles said the word “infantry” it sounded like a fellator swallowing. Of course, his actual language was more colorful.


‡ Antony Beevor writes that the Nationalist rebels murdered somewhere in the region of 200,000 Republicans and assorted sympathizers, while the Republicans murdered something like 38,000 Nationalists—mostly in the initial stages of the war. These deaths are separate from combat casualties (The Battle for Spain, pp. 81–94). Estimates of combat deaths hover around 200,000, with a slight advantage to the Nationalists.


§ Observers of the various political and social upheavals of the twentieth century will recognize the offspring of Martha, Matthews, et al. Few among the western reporters were endowed with the truth telling ability of George Orwell, who literally fought and was wounded for the Republican cause but who was not blinded to the depredations of the Stalinists who supported the Republicans with some equipment and men in exchange for the Spanish gold reserves. And if it seems inconsistent for a communist to be making a profit on arms sales, well, no one considering the world of realpolitik should expect consistency or be surprised at hypocrisy. Certainly not from Stalin.




CHAPTER TWO


“Be harsh.”


—Admiral Karl Dönitz, Commander
of the German U-boats


For the first few months of 1942 Hemingway spent his time editing a book that would be published as Men at War. It is a thousand-page anthology of writers as disparate as Julius Caesar and Stephen Crane, and as the name indicates, it is the work of writers who wrote about war. Never given to modesty, false or otherwise, he included three selections from his own novels. Hemingway also wrote the introduction. The introduction is a curious document in some ways, unsatisfying, and an indication to careful readers of Hemingway polishing the Hemingway image. The first line is: “This book will not tell you how to die.” That is Hemingway being Hemingway, but not the best of him. He goes back and forth between descriptions of the works included alongside conversations with his family and friends, and the result is somewhat discursive. And in what surely is an unintentional visitation of irony, he writes that Mussolini’s bluster and military posing were designed to cover up the fact that he had been fearful, even terrified, during World War I. Surely Hemingway would be enraged to know today that that is almost exactly the criticism that was, and is, leveled at him, in some quarters. Worse, that same criticism is also used to question his sexual identity—does a hairy chest conceal some different needs? He would not have liked that, either. And in fairness, that sort of analysis—the defense mechanism argument—is facile and in some cases has a whiff of agenda-driven criticism. But if you, meaning Hemingway, are going to use it, you cannot be surprised when others do it to you.


Once Hemingway finished with Men at War, he had other things to think about, for the U-boats had come to the Gulf of Mexico.


[image: image]


In less than seven months in 1942 German submarines sank 360 vessels in the Gulf of Mexico, the Caribbean, and off the US eastern coast. It was what the U-boat commanders called “the happy time.” Their losses were minimal by comparison—seven U-boats sunk. Their risks were also minimal, to the point that frequently they would attack on the surface, using their deck gun and thereby saving expensive torpedoes. In the first stages of the war some U-boat commanders would allow the crew of a target ship the chance to lower their lifeboats and pull away before the Germans opened fire. But the bombing campaign against German cities infuriated Admiral Dönitz and his order to “be harsh” meant that the crews of target ships would not be spared, and even in the case of a surface attack, crewmen trying to escape in their lifeboats were machine-gunned. Swimming crewmen were left to drown. Or worse. Shark attacks were not unknown.


The primary targets for the U-boats were Allied tankers carrying oil from Texas or South American refineries up the eastern seaboard of the United States. Other vital targets were ships carrying bauxite (used to make aluminum) from South American mines. But the U-boats did not discriminate; they would attack any and all shipping even down to wooden fishing boats manned only by a handful of men. Often the U-boats would surface, relieve the fishermen of their catch or any fresh fruit or vegetables that might be on board, and then destroy the boat with gunfire. One U-boat (U-166) destroyed a wretched little onion carrier with a crew of three. As long as these little vessels were destroyed economically, i.e., with a minimum of ordnance expended, there was merit attached to the attack. Any success would look good on a captain’s report, and any supplies denied to the enemy meant a step closer to victory. The British people were on short rations because of the U-boat depredations; the Americans, the Germans hoped, could soon experience shortages too.


In the early stages of the war, antisubmarine tactics were primitive. Merchant ships sailed alone, unguarded, and it would not be until later in the war that the complicated procedures involved in organizing and protecting convoys were developed. Further, there were not enough navy escort vessels available, even if the convoy system had been in place. To make matters worse, antisubmarine warfare (ASW) was almost entirely dependent on the human eye. (Sonar, or what the British called ASDIC, was available, but it was used primarily for identifying close-in contacts and then targeting after the “sighting.” In that case the U-boat was like a fish on the line, but ASDIC did not have the range to be useful as a sweeping search method.) Indeed, a line in the U-boat commander’s handbook reads: “He who sees first, wins.” Radar was still in its infancy and could not be installed in aircraft because of the size of the equipment. It would be later in the war when microwave radar could be carried by aircraft, and that development was crucial in fighting and ultimately defeating the U-boats. But in 1942 there were not enough planes to cover the vast stretches of open water, and for those that were available, the pilot’s and the crew’s eyes were the only means of spotting U-boats. Obviously that was virtually impossible when the U-boat was submerged, but the submarines had to cruise for long periods on the surface to recharge their electric batteries that provided propulsion when submerged. Surface propulsion was by diesel engines that not only drove the boats but also recharged the batteries in essentially the same way that a car engine charges its battery. While on the surface German lookouts were of course always posted to watch for aircraft, and a nimble captain could submerge to escape an attack from the air. “He who sees first, wins.” What’s more, in the early stages of the war, a U-boat captain would surface at night to recharge; there was nothing to threaten him then. It would only be later in the war that aircraft would be able to see farther, using radar, and it was then, along with convoy tactics and an augmented US Navy and Army Air Corps, that the battle against U-boats would be won. And it would be won; in the end three-quarters of the U-boat fleet (770 U-boats) were sunk by a combination of Allied surface ships and airplanes, planes being the slightly more deadly in terms of numbers sunk.


But that was to come later in the war. It was small wonder that 1942 represented the happy time for the U-boats. The United States had not enough aircraft, no sophisticated electronic detection gear, and not enough surface ships to search the incredible expanse of the sea. The seven U-boats that were spotted and sunk were simply unlucky for one reason or another. And Admiral Dönitz was most likely more than willing to trade seven U-boats for 360 merchant ships. The grim equation one aspires to in war is something like what the Germans achieved at sea in 1942.


No one in the civilian United States knew what was happening. Censorship of the news drew a curtain over this increasingly difficult and dangerous period. But there is no doubting the seriousness of the situation. A memo from General George Marshall to Admiral Ernest King on June 19, 1942, states the bleak facts:


“The losses by submarines off our Atlantic seaboard and in the Caribbean now threaten our entire war effort…. We are all aware of the limited number of escort craft, but has every conceivable improvised means been brought to bear on this situation? I am fearful that another month or two of this will so cripple our means of transport that we will be unable to bring sufficient men and planes to bear against the enemy in critical theaters to exercise a determining influence on the war.”1


If finding U-boats was a matter of human vision, as it was at this stage of the war, and if the Navy and Army Air Corps’ assets were limited, as they were, and if finding a U-boat in the vastness of the sea was a matter of sheer luck, then the question became—what sort of improvised means could Admiral King devise to meet the conditions?


In the classic tradition, the answer was: volunteers. When the only source of intelligence about enemy movements was visual, the more eyes watching, the better. Hundreds of yachtsmen, fishermen, and civilian pilots stepped forward. (The New York Times reported that twelve hundred boats ultimately were deployed along the eastern seaboard and the Gulf of Mexico.)2 Their job was not to engage the enemy but rather to patrol certain assigned sectors and radio the Navy or Air Corps if they spotted a surfaced U-boat or even a periscope. Although this was an improvisation, it was no amateurish lark. There was genuine risk to these volunteers, for as the New York Times reported: “Axis submarines ranging from the straits of Florida to the coast of Canada have taken to preying on small fry and have sunk two fishing boats costing the United Nations [i.e., allies] the loss of forty thousand pounds of onions and nineteen swordfish.”3 As mentioned, much the same thing was happening in the Gulf and Caribbean.


The idea of patrolling for U-boats appealed to Hemingway. And note, the idea did not originate with him, as some of his detractors assert. Nor was it a publicity stunt or a meaningless and useless exercise, or even, as Martha said, an excuse to go fishing and drinking with his friends. The idea for the volunteers came from Admiral King, a man with no patience for grandstanding. When he took the job of Commander Atlantic Fleet (CINCLANTFLT), he said: “When they get in trouble, they send for the sons of bitches.”4 The difference between Hemingway and the other volunteers was that he was living in Cuba, an ally but a foreign country that might have some objections to the idea. But he worked with the US ambassador there to get permission and also to make arrangements for the necessary radio and electronic equipment (for which he had to place over $30,000 in cash—a particularly healthy sum in 1942—as a bond for the safe return of the gear). He also arranged for weapons—Thompson submachine guns, grenades, and a bazooka.
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